
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA 

ROME DIVISION 
 

RYON JOHNS, individually and on 
behalf of others similarly situated, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 

 
U.S. TRAFFIC CONTROL, LLC,  
 
  Defendant. 
 

  
 
Civil Case No.:  
 

 

 
 

COLLECTIVE ACTION COMPLAINT WITH JURY DEMAND 
 

Plaintiff Ryon Johns, individually and on behalf of all others similarly 

situated, by and through his attorneys, Brown, LLC and the Orlando Firm, P.C., 

hereby brings this Collective Action Complaint against Defendant U.S. Traffic 

Control, LLC, and alleges of his own knowledge and conduct and upon information 

and belief as to all other matters, as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiff brings this action for himself and all other similarly situated 

hourly-paid flaggers to recover unpaid overtime wages, liquidated damages, and 

reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs as a result of Defendant’s willful violation of 
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the Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”), 29 U.S.C. §201, et seq. and attendant 

regulations at 29 C.F.R. § 516, et seq. 

2. Defendant U.S. Traffic Control, LLC is a company headquartered in 

Athens, Georgia that provides traffic safety personnel and services including two-

way flaggers, pavement technicians, traffic control supervisors and traffic control 

technicians for road closures and detours, crowd control management and equipment 

rental. 

3. Plaintiff and the putative FLSA collective members are hourly-paid 

flaggers employed by Defendant in the last three (3) years, who were deprived of 

proper wages as a result of the following unlawful policies maintained by Defendant: 

a. Failing to report all time worked by flaggers throughout the 
course of their workday on the crew timesheet, causing them to not receive 
their hourly or overtime wages for all hours worked; 

 
b. Deducting 30 minutes per day from their paid time on account of 

supposed meal breaks that on most days were not received, causing them to 
not receive their hourly or overtime wages for all hours worked; and 

 
c. Failing to pay flaggers for time spent travelling outside of their 

home communities during their normal working hours between their homes 
and the locations at which they were stationed to work for Defendant, at which 
they stayed overnight. 

 
4. As a result of these policies, Defendant failed to pay hourly-paid 

flaggers for all hours worked, including hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours 

in a week, in violations of the FLSA. 
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5. Plaintiff asserts the FLSA claims individually and on behalf of a 

putative FLSA Collective, defined as: 

All hourly-paid flaggers employed by Defendant at any time from 
three (3) years prior to the filing of this Complaint through the 
date of judgment. 

 
6. Plaintiff seeks to send notice pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) to all 

hourly-paid flaggers of Defendant informing them of their rights to assert FLSA 

claims in this collective action by filing their individual consent forms. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

7. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s FLSA claims 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 because Plaintiff’s claims raise a federal question under 

29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq. 

8. The Court has general personal jurisdiction over Defendant because it 

is domiciled in Georgia. 

9. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) 

because a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claim occurred 

in this district. 

PARTIES 

10. Defendant U.S. Traffic Control, LLC is a for-profit corporation created 

and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of California. 
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11. Defendant maintains its headquarters at 573 Hawthorne Avenue, 

Athens, Georgia, 30606. 

12. Plaintiff Ryon Johns is a resident of the County of Lowndes and State 

of Georgia.  

13. Plaintiff was employed by Defendant as an hourly-paid flagger from 

approximately July 2022 to February 2023. 

14. Plaintiff worked for Defendant in Georgia, including in or around the 

following cities: Cedartown, Dallas, Elijay, Kingston, and Rome. 

15.  Plaintiff’s written consent to become an FLSA party plaintiff is 

attached hereto as Exhibit 1.  

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS1 

16. Defendant operates an enterprise engaged in commerce as defined 

under the FLSA. 

17. Defendant makes over $500,000 in revenue per year. 

18. Defendant has two (2) or more employees handling, selling, or 

otherwise working on goods or materials that have been moved in or produced for 

commerce, including but not limited to traffic signs, cones, and barricades. 

 
1 The allegations in this Complaint, unless otherwise specified, refer to the time period of 
three years prior to the filing of this Complaint through the present. 
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19. Defendant is the “employer” of hourly-paid flaggers for purposes of the 

FLSA.  

20. Hourly-paid flaggers are “employees” of Defendant for purposes of the 

FLSA. 

21. Hourly-paid flaggers’ primary job duty is to provide traffic-control 

services at construction sites, such as positioning traffic signs, cones, and barricades, 

and informing construction crews of safety hazards. 

22. Defendant assigns hourly-paid flaggers to perform work for several 

days or weeks at a time at job sites that are outside their home communities. 

23. Defendant provides hourly-paid flaggers with lodging at hotels near the 

job sites at which they are assigned to work, at which they reside overnight for 

several days or weeks at a time. 

24. Hourly-paid flaggers use their own means of transportation to travel to 

and from their homes to their assigned job sites and/or hotels. 

25. Hourly-paid flaggers’ base compensation consists of an hourly rate of 

pay. 

26. Defendant suffers and permits hourly-paid flaggers to regularly work 

more than forty (40) hours per week. 

27. Defendant determines how many hours to pay flaggers for in each week 
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based on the number of daily work hours their foreman report on the crew timesheet. 

28. Defendant’s foremen often enter amounts of daily work hours for 

flaggers that are less than their total hours worked throughout the course of such 

workdays. 

29. The time that Defendant’s foremen fail to include in their entries of 

flaggers’ daily work hours includes, but is not limited to, time spent before their 

scheduled shifts inspecting their work vehicles and driving to the job site. 

30. The time that Defendant’s foremen fail to include in their entries of 

flaggers’ daily work hours includes, but is not limited to, time spent in the afternoons 

and evenings of their scheduled workdays collecting and loading traffic signs, cones, 

and barricades at the job site and driving work vehicles to transport work tools and/or 

other employees.  

31. Defendant knows or should know that hourly-paid flaggers often work 

more time than is entered by their foremen on the crew timesheet, and are not paid 

for such time. 

32. Defendant deducts 30 minutes per day from hourly-paid flaggers’ paid 

time on account of supposed meal breaks that on most days are not received, causing 

them to not receive their hourly or overtime wages for all hours worked.  

33. Defendant knows or should know that hourly-paid flaggers perform 
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work during the periods of time that it deducts from their pay. 

34. Defendant does not record or pay hourly-paid flaggers for the time they 

spend travelling from their homes to the hotels at which they are stationed for each 

project. 

35. Defendant does not record or pay hourly-paid flaggers for the time they 

spend travelling from the hotel or job site back home. 

36. The time hourly-paid flaggers spend travelling between their homes 

and their assigned job sites and/or hotels is compensable under the FLSA because 

its cuts across their normal working hours. See 29 C.F.R. § 785.39. 

37. Defendant knows or should know that the time hourly-paid flaggers 

spend travelling between their homes and their assigned job sites and/or hotels cuts 

across their normal working hours. 

38. Defendant fails to pay hourly-paid flaggers wages for all hours worked. 

39. In some weeks, Defendant’s failure to pay hourly-paid flaggers wages 

for all hours worked results in their wages averaging to less than the federal 

minimum wage of $7.25 per hour. 

40. In most weeks, Defendant’s failure to pay hourly-paid flaggers wages 

for all hours worked results in them not receiving 1.5x their regular rates of pay for 

all hours worked over 40 in the workweek. 

Case 4:23-cv-00055-WMR   Document 1   Filed 03/29/23   Page 7 of 15



8 

41. Defendant has willfully violated the FLSA. 

42. Defendant’s wrongful acts and/or omissions/commissions, as 

alleged herein, have not been exercised in good faith or in conformity with and in 

reliance on any written administrative regulation, order, ruling, approval, or 

interpretation by the state and/or U.S. Department of Labor or any administrative 

practice or enforcement policy of such a department or bureau. 

COLLECTIVE ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

43. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates all previous paragraphs herein. 

44. Plaintiff brings this action pursuant to Section 216(b) of the FLSA, as 

an opt-in representative action, for and on behalf of all hourly-paid flaggers who 

have been affected by Defendant’s common unlawful policies and practices which 

include failing to pay overtime compensation, in violation of the Fair Labor 

Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq. (“FLSA”) and attendant regulations at 29 

C.F.R. § 516, et seq. 

45. Plaintiff brings this action pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) of the FLSA 

on behalf of: 

All hourly-paid flaggers employed by Defendant at any time from 
three (3) years prior to the filing of this Complaint through the 
date of judgment. 

 
Plaintiff reserves the right to amend this definition as necessary. 
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46. As a result of the Defendant’s illegal policies, there were many weeks 

in which Defendant failed to compensate members of the FLSA collective at an 

overtime premium rate of not less than one and one-half (1.5) times their regular rate 

of pay for hours worked in excess of forty (40) per workweek as required by the 

FLSA. 

47. Plaintiff brings this collective action against Defendant to recover 

unpaid minimum wages, overtime compensation, liquidated damages, and 

reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). 

48. The collective action further alleges a willful violation of the FLSA and 

seeks an additional, third year of limitations. 

49. Plaintiff seeks to send notice to the hourly-paid workers of Defendant 

informing them of their rights to assert FLSA claims in this collective action by filing 

their individual consent forms, as provided by 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) and supporting 

case law. 

50. Certification of the collective action under the FLSA is appropriate 

because the employees described herein are “similarly situated” to Plaintiff under 29 

U.S.C. § 216(b). The class of employees on behalf of whom Plaintiff brings this 

collective action are similarly situated because they were subject to the same or 

similar unlawful policies and practices as stated herein and their claims are based 
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upon the same factual and legal theories. 

51. Plaintiff anticipates that there will be no difficulty in the management 

of this litigation. This litigation presents claims under the FLSA, a type that have 

often been prosecuted on a class wide basis, and the manner of identifying the 

collective and providing any monetary relief to it can be effectuated from a review 

of Defendant’s records. 

52. Plaintiff and the putative FLSA collective members demand a trial by 

jury. 

COUNT I 
(Individual and 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) Collective Action Claims) 

Violation of the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq. 
Failure to Pay Minimum Wages 

 
53. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates all previous paragraphs herein. 

54. 29 U.S.C. § 206(a)(1) provides: 

Every employer shall pay to each of his employees who in 
any workweek is engaged in commerce or in the 
production of goods for commerce, or is employed in an 
enterprise engaged in commerce or in the production of 
goods for commerce, wages at … 7.25 an hour. 
 

55. As a result of the policies and violations alleged here in, Defendant 

failed to pay Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective members for all hours worked. 

56. In some weeks, Defendant’s failure to pay Plaintiff and the FLSA 

Collective members wages for all hours worked resulted in their wages averaging to 
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less than the federal minimum wage of $7.25 per hour. 

57. Defendant’s conduct and practices, described herein, were willful, 

intentional, unreasonable, arbitrary, and in bad faith.  

58. Because Defendant willfully violated the FLSA, a three (3) year statute 

of limitations shall apply to such violation pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 255(a). 

59. As a result of Defendant’s uniform and common policies and practices 

described above, Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective members were illegally deprived 

of minimum wages earned, in such amounts to be determined at trial, and are entitled 

to recovery of such total unpaid amounts, liquidated damages, reasonable attorneys’ 

fees, costs and other compensation pursuant to 29 U.S.C § 216(b). 

 
COUNT II 

(Individual and 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) Collective Action Claims) 
Violation of the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq. 

Failure to Pay Overtime Wages 
 

60. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates all previous paragraphs herein. 

61. 29 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1) provides: 

[N]o employer shall employ any of his employees who in 
any workweek is engaged in commerce or in the 
production of goods for commerce, or is employed in an 
enterprise engaged in commerce or in the production of 
goods for commerce, for a workweek longer than forty 
hours unless such employee receives compensation for his 
employment in excess of the hours above specified at a 
rate not less than one and one-half times the regular rate at 
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which she is employed. 
 

62. Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective members worked over forty (40) 

hours a week for Defendant in many workweeks.  

63. As a result of the policies and violations alleged here in, Defendant 

failed to pay Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective members for all hours worked in 

excess of forty (40) hours in a workweek. 

64. As a result of the policies and violations alleged here in, Defendant 

failed to pay Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective members overtime pay at a rate of 

1.5 times of their regular rates of pay for hours worked in excess of 40 in a 

workweek. 

65. Defendant’s conduct and practices, described herein, were willful, 

intentional, unreasonable, arbitrary, and in bad faith.  

66. Because Defendant willfully violated the FLSA, a three (3) year statute 

of limitations shall apply to such violation pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 255(a). 

67. As a result of Defendant’s uniform and common policies and practices 

described above, Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective members were illegally deprived 

of overtime wages earned, in such amounts to be determined at trial, and are entitled 

to recovery of such total unpaid amounts, liquidated damages, reasonable attorneys’ 

fees, costs and other compensation pursuant to 29 U.S.C § 216(b). 

Case 4:23-cv-00055-WMR   Document 1   Filed 03/29/23   Page 12 of 15



13 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court grant the 

following relief against Defendant: 

(A) A declaratory judgment that Defendant’s wage practices alleged herein 

violate the overtime provisions of the FLSA; 

(B) An Order for injunctive relief ordering Defendant to comply with the 

FLSA, and end all of the illegal wage practices alleged herein; 

(C) Certifying this case as a collective action in accordance with 29 U.S.C. 

§ 216(b) with respect to the FLSA claims set forth herein; 

(D) Ordering Defendant to disclose in computer format, or in print if no 

computer readable format is available, the names, addresses, e-mail addresses, 

telephone numbers, dates of birth, job titles, dates of employment and locations of 

employment of all FLSA Collective members; 

(E) Authorizing Plaintiff’s counsel to send notice(s) of this action to all 

FLSA Collective members, including the publishing of notice in a manner that is 

reasonably calculated to apprise the FLSA collective members of their rights by law 

to join and participate in this lawsuit; 

(F) Designating Plaintiff as the representative of the FLSA Collective in 

this action; 
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(G) Designating the undersigned as counsel for the FLSA Collective in this 

action; 

(H) Judgment for damages for all unpaid minimum wages, overtime wages, 

and liquidated damages to which Plaintiff and the FLSA collective members are 

lawfully entitled under the FLSA; 

(I) An incentive award for the Plaintiff for serving as representative of the 

FLSA Collective in this action; 

(J) Awarding reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred by Plaintiff in 

this action as provided by the FLSA;  

(K) Judgment for any and all civil penalties to which Plaintiff and the FLSA 

Collective members may be entitled; and 

(L) Such other and further relief as to this Court may deem necessary, just 

and proper. 
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JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of all other FLSA Collective members, 

by and through his attorneys, hereby demands a trial by jury pursuant to Rule 38 of 

the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and the court rules and statutes made and 

provided with respect to the above-entitled claims. 

 
Dated: March 29, 2023   Respectfully submitted, 
 
    s/ Roger Orlando            

Roger Orlando, Esq. 
      THE ORLANDO FIRM, P.C. 

315 West Ponce De Leon Avenue, Suite 400 
Decatur, GA 30030  
T: (404) 373-1800 
F: (404) 373-6999 
roger@orlandofirm.com 
 
Nicholas Conlon (will PHV) 
BROWN, LLC 
111 Town Square Place, Suite 400 
Jersey City, NJ 07310 
T: (877) 561-0000 
F: (855) 582-5297  
nicholasconlon@jtblawgroup.com 

     
      Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA 

ROME DIVISION 

RYON JOHNS, individually and on 
behalf of others similarly situated, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

U.S. TRAFFIC CONTROL, LLC, 

Defendant. 

Civil Case No.: 

CONSENT TO SUE 

I hereby consent to be a Plaintiff in the Fair Labor Standards Act case 
captioned above. I hereby consent to the bringing of any claims I may have under 
the Fair Labor Standards Act (for unpaid minimum wages, overtime wages, 
liquidated damages, attorney’s fees, costs and other relief) and applicable state 
wage and hour law against the Defendant(s). I further consent to bringing these 
claims on a collective and/or class basis with other current/former employees of 
Defendant(s), to be represented by Brown, LLC, and to be bound by any settlement 
of this action or adjudication by the Court. 

Signed: Dated:

Name: Ryon Johns

03 / 28 / 2023
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1. PROPERTY INCLUDED IN AN EARLIER NUMBERED PENDING SUIT.
2. SAME ISSUE OF FACT OR ARISES OUT OF THE SAME EVENT OR TRANSACTION INCLUDED IN AN EARLIER NUMBERED PENDING SUIT.
3. VALIDITY OR INFRINGEMENT OF THE SAME PATENT, COPYRIGHT OR TRADEMARK INCLUDED IN AN EARLIER NUMBERED PENDING SUIT.
4. APPEALS ARISING OUT OF THE SAME BANKRUPTCY CASE AND ANY CASE RELATED THERETO WHICH HAVE BEEN DECIDED BY THE SAME

BANKRUPTCY JUDGE.
5. REPETITIVE CASES FILED BY PRO SE LITIGANTS.
6. COMPANION OR RELATED CASE TO CASE(S) BEING SIMULTANEOUSLY FILED (INCLUDE ABBREVIATED STYLE OF OTHER CASE(S)):

7. EITHER SAME OR ALL OF THE PARTIES AND ISSUES IN THIS CASE WERE PREVIOUSLY INVOLVED IN CASE NO.          , WHICH WAS
DISMISSED.  This case          IS      IS NOT (check one box) SUBSTANTIALLY THE SAME CASE. 

   SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD            DATE

830 PATENT
835 PATENT-ABBREVIATED NEW DRUG      

APPLICATIONS (ANDA) - a/k/a 
Hatch-Waxman cases

880 DEFEND TRADE SECRETS ACT OF 2016 (DTSA)

03/29/2023s/ Roger Orlando
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